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STATEMENT OF FACTS 
 

Your affiant, , is a Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of Investigation.  As 
a Special Agent, I am authorized by law or by a Government agency to engage in or supervise the 
prevention, detention, investigation, or prosecution of violations of federal criminal laws.   

 
The U.S. Capitol is secured 24 hours a day by U.S. Capitol Police.  Restrictions around the 

U.S. Capitol include permanent and temporary security barriers and posts manned by U.S. Capitol 
Police.  Only authorized people with appropriate identification are allowed access inside the U.S. 
Capitol.  On January 6, 2021, the exterior plaza of the U.S. Capitol was also closed to members of 
the public. 

 
On January 6, 2021, a joint session of the United States Congress convened at the United 

States Capitol, which is located at First Street, SE, in Washington, DC.  During the joint session, 
elected members of the United States House of Representatives and the United States Senate were 
meeting in separate chambers of the United States Capitol to certify the vote count of the Electoral 
College of the 2020 Presidential Election, which had taken place on November 3, 2020.  The joint 
session began at approximately 1:00 p.m.  Shortly thereafter, by approximately 1:30 p.m., the 
House and Senate adjourned to separate chambers to resolve a particular objection.  Vice President 
Mike Pence was present and presiding, first in the joint session, and then in the Senate chamber.  

 
As the proceedings continued in both the House and the Senate, and with Vice President 

Mike Pence present and presiding over the Senate, a large crowd gathered outside the U.S. Capitol. 
As noted above, temporary and permanent barricades were in place around the exterior of the U.S. 
Capitol building, and U.S. Capitol Police were present and attempting to keep the crowd away 
from the Capitol building and the proceedings underway inside.   

 
At such time, the certification proceedings still underway and the exterior doors and 

windows of the U.S. Capitol were locked or otherwise secured.  Members of the U.S. Capitol 
Police attempted to maintain order and keep the crowd from entering the Capitol; however, shortly 
after 2:00 p.m., individuals in the crowd forced entry into the U.S. Capitol, including by breaking 
windows and by assaulting members of the U.S. Capitol Police, as others in the crowd encouraged 
and assisted those acts. 

 
Shortly thereafter, at approximately 2:20 p.m. members of the United States House of 

Representatives and United States Senate, including the President of the Senate, Vice President 
Mike Pence, were instructed to—and did—evacuate the chambers.  Accordingly, the joint session 
of the United States Congress was effectively suspended until shortly after 8:00 p.m.  Vice 
President Pence remained in the United States Capitol from the time he was evacuated from the 
Senate Chamber until the sessions resumed.  

 
During national news coverage of the aforementioned events, video footage which 

appeared to be captured on mobile devices of persons present on the scene depicted evidence of 
violations of local and federal law, including scores of individuals inside the U.S. Capitol building 
without authority to be there.   
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Following the events of January 6, 2021, the Metropolitan Police Department (MPD) 
received a tip on its tip line containing what appears to be an audio/video recording of two shorter 
video clips.  Upon review of this video, your affiant determined both videos depicted the same 
individual wearing a bright orange sweatshirt, black rimmed glasses with a gold colored nose 
piece, and a baseball cap inside the U.S. Capitol, who was later identified as RONALD SANDLIN.  
SANDLIN appeared in the video with several unidentified subjects1 in the background throughout 
the entirety of the video.  In the first video clip, SANDLIN appeared emotional, stating “we did 
it.”  In the second video clip, SANDLIN stated “we breached the building, we breached the 
building, into our Capitol.”   
 

Further investigation revealed Twitter posts from an account named Cleavon_MD.  The 
first post read “Meet Ronnie Sandlin who stormed the Capitol: ‘We did it We did it.’”  This post 
contained a video that captured the same scenes and audio as that of the video in the MPD tip 
described above.  The second post was a photo from the internet of what appeared to be SANDLIN 
wearing a suit.  The next two photos posted on the account appeared to be screenshots from a 
Facebook account under the name “Ronnie Sandlin.”  One screenshot contained what appeared to 
be videos of SANDLIN in the same bright orange sweatshirt and black rimmed glasses (see Figure 
1), and the other screenshot was a comment posted from the Ronnie Sandlin Facebook account on 
January 6 at 9:56 PM (see Figure 2), which read “Who has a contact with TMZ and/or Epoch 
Times?  Thanks patriots.  I have the truth not the media lies.  What I haven’t shown will show the 
REAL truth.  We are not terrorists.  We occupied and for the most part left that place relatively put 
together all things considered.”  

 

 
Figure 1 

 

 
1 There are numerous individuals who appear in the videos reviewed by your affiant who either have yet to be identified 
or have been fully identified, but for purposes of this affidavit, your affiant will refer to all individuals but SANDLIN 
and the U.S. Capitol Police officers as “unidentified subjects.” 
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  Figure 3    Figure 4 

 
Your affiant has reviewed a copy of surveillance video footage obtained from an internal 

security camera covering a hallway in the U.S. Capitol Senate Gallery with a date and time stamp 
reading Wednesday, January 06, 2021, at 2:41:28 PM.  This camera provides a view of a hallway 
and several sets of doors to rooms or areas out of the view of the camera.  The beginning of the 
video clip showed several unidentified subjects in the hallway.  A U.S. Capitol Police (USCP) 
officer (hereinafter referred to as “USCP1”) is seen entering one of these sets of doors and is 
shortly joined by two other USCP officers (“USCP2” and “USCP3”).  As part of their official 
duties, USCP1, USCP2, and USCP3 were clearing individuals out of rooms and securing the doors.   

 
Approximately 27 seconds into the video clip, SANDLIN entered the view of the security 

camera wearing a bright orange sweatshirt, baseball cap, backpack, a second smaller bag over his 
shoulder, and what appeared to be camera equipment.  Shortly thereafter, USCP2 and USCP3 
moved toward the second set of doors to start to usher people out, while USCP1 finished locking 
the first set of doors.  SANDLIN is seen walking next to USCP1 as he approached the second set 
of doors, and while USCP2 is attempting to close the second set of doors.  SANDLIN is observed 
cutting in front of USCP1 and attempting to wrestle the door away from USCP2.  This wrestling 
to keep the door open causes SANDLIN and several other unidentified subjects to become engaged 
in a shoving match with the USCP officers.  SANDLIN is observed backing away from USCP2 
and charging back at USCP2, while USCP2 is facing away from SANDLIN.  While this shoving 
match transpires, the three USCPs are without backup in a hallway surrounded by what appeared 
to be at least 20 individuals.  As the three USCPs make their way away from the crowd down the 
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hallway and out of view of the security camera, SANDLIN along with several others are observed 
on the video footage acting in an aggressive manner towards the USCPs.         

 
Further investigation revealed another video posted to the internet of a large crowd of 

individuals breaching one of the doors leading into the U.S. Capitol.  There are several USCP 
officers attempting to hold back the large surge of individuals trying to push past them to get inside 
the building.  A much smaller group of individuals located behind the USCP officers can be seen 
in the video attempting to remove the USCP officers from the doorway to allow for the individuals 
outside the U.S. Capitol building to come inside.  In the video, your affiant observed SANDLIN 
as part of the group of individuals already inside the U.S. Capitol and behind the USCP officers.  
SANDLIN is observed reaching out and attempting to rip the helmet off of a U.S. Capitol Police 
officer (USCP4), while USCP4 is facing away from SANDLIN and attempting to fight back the 
large group of individuals trying to enter the Capitol.   

 
Your affiant has reviewed several videos and photographs from the internet of a person identified 
as “Ronnie Sandlin” inside the Capitol as well as a government photograph for an individual 
named RONALD SANDLIN.  In comparing these images, the images of the “Ronnie Sandlin” 
captured in the internet postings are consistent with the physical appearance of SANDLIN, as seen 
in a government photograph of SANDLIN.  In addition, the individual who appeared in several 
selfie photographs and videos posted to a Facebook account with the username Ronnie.Sandlin 
has the same distinctive glasses and appears to be consistent with the person seen in photographs 
inside the Capitol and on video surveillance footage appearing to wear the same glasses, as well 
as the government photograph of SANDLIN wearing the same distinctive glasses.   
 

On December 23, 2020, the user of Facebook account Ronnie.Sandlin posted the following 
comment: “Who is going to Washington D.C. on the 6th of January? I’m going to be there to show 
support for our president and to do my part to stop the steal and stand behind Trump when he 
decides to cross the rubicon.  If you are a patriot I believe it’s your duty to be there. I see it as my 
civic responsibility. If you’re going comment below or PM me so we can meet up.”  The user also 
posted: “cool man I’m driving from Memphis if you want to join.  Probably gonna rent a car and 
drive there.  Assume flights into and surrounding DC will be shutdown because they don’t want 
people to come and they will blame in on Covid.”  This comment posted by the Facebook user 
Ronnie.Sandlin further corroborates that the user of this Facebook account is SANDLIN who, 
according to government records, lives within 25 miles of Memphis, TN.   

 
Based on the posts and information described above and a comparison of the images of the 

individual inside the Capitol with the photograph in government records for RONALD SANDLIN, 
your affiant reasonably believes that the individual seen in the Capitol building in the videos and 
Facebook photos is RONALD SANDLIN.      
 

Based on the foregoing, your affiant submits that there is probable cause to believe that 
RONALD SANDLIN violated 18 U.S.C. § 1752(a)(1) and (2), which makes it a crime to (1) 
knowingly enter or remain in any restricted building or grounds without lawful authority to do; 
and (2) knowingly, and with intent to impede or disrupt the orderly conduct of Government 
business or official functions, engage in disorderly or disruptive conduct in, or within such 






